Australian GovernmentDepartment of Health and Aged Care



Lecture Reference Book

For use with the intellectual disability lecture plans

Intellectual Disability Health Capability Framework Resources

Authors and contributors

National Centre of Excellence in Intellectual Disability Health, UNSW Medicine & Health, UNSW Sydney

Dr Seeta Durvasula Ms Claire Eagleson Ms Marianne Gibney-Quinteros Ms Tahli Hind Ms Michaela Kobor Professor Julian Trollor Dr Janelle Weise Dr Jenna Zhao **UNSW Medicine & Health, UNSW Sydney** Associate Professor Margo Lane Professor Gary Velan

Medical School, The University of Queensland

Professor Nalini Pather

Suggested citation

Durvasula, S., Eagleson, C., Gibney-Quinteros, M., Hind, T., Kobor, M., Lane M., Pather, N., Trollor, J., Velan, G., Weise, J., Zhao, J. *Intellectual Disability Health Capability Framework Resources – Lecture Reference Book.* 2025. <u>https://www.health.gov.au/resources/collections/intellectual-disability-health-capability-framework-and-education-resources</u>

This work has been funded by the Department of Health and Aged Care.

This version current as at May 2025.

Contents

Authors and contributors	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Description	iv
Glossary	v
Lecture 1: Intellectual disability health	1
Section 1: What is intellectual disability?	1
Lived experience presentation	1
Intellectual disability and its prevalence and causes	1
Section 2: Health status of people with intellectual disability	5
Setting the scene	5
Health status and common health conditions	5
Determinants of health for people with intellectual disability	6
Psychological risks	6
Section 3: Reasonable adjustments	8
What reasonable adjustments are	8
Lecture 2: Communication	9
Section 1: Communication challenges faced by people with intellectual disability	9
Section 2: General principles for communication	9
Preparing for a consultation	9
Person-centred approach	10
Section 3: Adapting communication	10
Communication strategies	10
Augmentative and Alternative Communication	11
Section 4: Behaviour as a form of communication	11
Section 5: Communication to reassure	13
Consider location and timing factors that can support communication	13
Involve others	13
References	14

Acknowledgements

Portions of the Lecture Reference Book were adapted from materials used as part of Intellectual Disability Mental Health workshops and Intellectual Disability Health Education elearning courses developed by the Department of Developmental Disability Neuropsychiatry (3DN), UNSW Sydney. Thank you to Maria Heaton for use of her presentation, *A Family Perspective*.

Description

This Lecture Reference Book is part of a suite of resources designed to support the <u>Intellectual Disability Health Capability Framework</u> (the Framework). The Framework aims to equip pre-registration students studying health, allied health, dentistry and other health-related disciplines with the required core capabilities to provide quality health care to people with intellectual disability.

This resource should be used in conjunction with the associated Lecture Plans and Tutorial Activities, which have been developed to introduce the first two capability areas in the Intellectual Disability Health Capability Framework. The lecture plans outline key teaching points, and this Lecture Reference Book provides more detailed information on each of the lecture topics. This Lecture Reference Book also provides background information that educators can use to create lecture materials for their discipline.

Additional resources are also available for educators to support integration of the Framework into existing curricula. Please see the <u>Intellectual Disability Health Capability Framework and</u> <u>education resources</u> to view all available resources.

Glossary

- **accessible** Environments, facilities, services, products and information that people are able to use and interact with in a way that suits their needs. [1]
- **adaptive functioning** Age-appropriate behaviours that people need to live independently and to function safely and appropriately in their everyday life.
- Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) Methods of communication personalised to enable the participation of a person who may experience barriers to spoken communication. They include unaided forms, such as eye contact, gestures, facial expression, vocalisations and sign language, and aided forms that use devices to communicate. [1]
- behaviours of concern Behaviours of which the intensity, frequency or duration negatively impacts the quality of life or safety of the person or those around them and are likely to result in the person experiencing aversive responses, including being restricted or excluded. [2]
- capacity to consent A person's ability to make decisions. A person is generally
 presumed to have capacity if they can understand facts and choices involved, weigh up
 consequences, and communicate their decisions. Legally, adults are presumed to have
 capacity to consent until otherwise indicated. Capacity to consent is time and situation
 specific. [3]
- **diagnostic overshadowing** The misattribution of symptoms to the person's disability rather than to a health or mental health concern. [4]
- **Easy Read** Easy Read materials adapt standard information into a briefer copy using easier-to-understand language and pictures to support comprehension of the text.
- intellectual disability A lifelong condition that affects a person's intellectual skills and their behaviour in different situations. People with intellectual disability can have difficulties in communication, memory, understanding, problem solving, self-care, social and emotional skills, and physical skills. [5] Intellectual disability originates in the developmental period (before 18 years of age). [6]
- **person-centred approach** This approach puts the person with intellectual disability at the centre of planning and decision-making about their own support and services and encompasses the principles of equality, choice, and inclusion.
- reasonable adjustments In health care include policies, processes, systems and communication that adjust for the needs of the person with intellectual disability. Reasonable adjustments prevent direct and indirect discrimination against a person with disability. [7]
- **supported decision-making** Processes and approaches that assist people to make a decision, including giving them the tools they need to make the decision for themselves. Supported decision-making does not mean making a decision for, or on behalf of, another person. [1]
- **trauma-informed approach** This approach considers the impact of trauma on individuals and focusses on providing an environment in which recovery can occur, and re-traumatisation does not occur.

Lecture 1: Intellectual disability health

Section 1: What is intellectual disability?

Lived experience presentation

The inclusion of a lived experience presentation as part of intellectual disability health education offers a unique insight into the experience of people with intellectual disability in health care and is strongly recommended. Ideally, arrange for a person with intellectual disability (and potentially a carer or family member of a person with intellectual disability) to attend for a live or online presentation. If this is not possible, a good alternate option is to see if a person with lived experience could record a video of themselves talking about their experiences to show in class. If neither of these options are possible, consider finding a video online that could be used – for example, Maria Heaton's <u>A Family Perspective</u>. Videos such as this can also complement in-person presentations.

It is important to note that organising a lived experience presentation is a process that requires ample time, preparation and consideration. For more guidance on engaging with lived experience educators, see the Co-education Toolkit on the <u>Framework and education</u> resources collection page.

Intellectual disability and its prevalence and causes

What intellectual disability is

Intellectual disability is a lifelong condition that affects a person's intellectual skills and their behaviour in different situations. People with intellectual disability can have difficulties in communication, memory, understanding, problem solving, self-care, social and emotional skills, and physical skills. [5]

Diagnostic criteria are provided by definitions in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5-TR) [6] and the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). [8] According to these criteria, a person has intellectual disability if the following three features are present:

- below average intelligence (e.g., as demonstrated by an IQ score of 70 or less)
- deficits in adaptive functioning
- onset during the developmental period (in Australia, this is regarded as before the age of 18).

If the onset of below average intelligence and deficits in adaptive functioning occur after the age of 18, this is usually due to acquired brain injury or a neurodegenerative disease (e.g., dementia). In these cases, it is not considered intellectual disability and is instead referred to as a cognitive disability or impairment.

Intellectual disability is a subset of developmental disability, meaning all people with intellectual disability have developmental disability, but not all people with developmental disability have intellectual disability. For example, some people with cerebral palsy, autism or spina bifida may not have intellectual disability.

What adaptive functioning is

Adaptive functioning is the term used to describe the age-appropriate behaviours that people need to live independently and to function safely and appropriately in their everyday life.

Adaptive functioning involves different types of skills (DSM-5): [6]

- conceptual skills, in the areas of language, literacy or number concepts (like money and time) and self-direction.
- social skills, such as interpersonal skills, social responsibility, self-esteem, gullibility, social problem solving, the ability to follow rules and to avoid being victimised.
- practical skills, or skills of daily living like personal care, health care, travel/transport, schedules and routines, safety, use of money, use of the telephone.

Adaptive functioning is important to consider because two people with the same IQ may function differently in everyday life.

Levels of intellectual disability

It can sometimes be helpful to categorise a person's level of intellectual disability. For example, it can help determine eligibility for services or provide a general indicator of the person's support needs.

A common way of classifying the level of intellectual disability is based on IQ. However, the range of IQ scores for each level is broad, and there is overlap between levels. Therefore, current ways of categorising a person's level of intellectual disability take into account their level of adaptive functioning.

Table 1. below details one way that the level of intellectual disability can be categorised. [9]

Table 1: Levels of intellectual disabilit	у
---	---

Level	IQ categories	Daily functioning
Mild	IQ 50 to 70	Can learn to read and write.
		 Can live reasonably independently, may have a job and drive a car.
		 May have difficulty with subtle social conventions, understanding risk and managing money.
		 Language acquisition can take longer, but can communicate well once learnt.
		Can form many interpersonal relationships.
Moderate	IQ 35 to 50	 Support required for planning, organisation and personal care.
		 May be able to travel alone in familiar settings.
		 Delayed language acquisition. May benefit from additional communication supports.
		Can form important enduring relationships.
Severe	IQ 20 to 35	 Require daily assistance, particularly with communication, personal care, and safety.
		 Largely non-verbal communication; can communicate about straightforward things.
		Close bonds with key people.
Profound	IQ less than 20	24-hour intensive support required.
		Communication is largely non-verbal.
		 Close bonds formed with key people, but interactions limited by sensory and physical impairments.

Prevalence of intellectual disability

The prevalence of intellectual disability varies across studies but affects about 1-3% of the Australian population. [10-12]

Causes of intellectual disability

- There are many different causes of intellectual disability, and often there is more than one factor which leads to its development. Many causes of intellectual disability also cause other disabilities, impairments or health problems.
- In about half of people with intellectual disability, a cause can be found.

One way of classifying causes of intellectual disability is by whether they occur prenatally, perinatally or postnatally. Some of the possible causes of intellectual disability are listed below.

Prenatal causes of intellectual disability

- Single gene abnormalities these can include inborn errors of metabolism such as phenylketonuria (PKU).
- Polygenic causes (multiple genes involved, often the deletion or otherwise altered functioning of contiguous genes) e.g., William's syndrome.
- Chromosome disorders e.g., Down syndrome, Fragile X syndrome. Fragile X syndrome is the most common known inherited cause of intellectual disability.
- Exposure to teratogens (negatively affect a foetus) e.g., alcohol (causing foetal alcohol syndrome) and some anti-epileptic medications.
- Infections during pregnancy such as cytomegalovirus (CMV), rubella or toxoplasmosis.
- Developmental brain abnormalities such as lissencephaly (characterised by an absence of folds in the cerebral cortex and abnormally small head) and spina bifida (the incomplete development of the spine and spinal cord).

Perinatal causes of intellectual disability

- Prematurity babies born prematurely have a higher risk of intellectual disability. The more premature the baby is born, the higher the risk of intellectual disability. [13]
- Intra-ventricular haemorrhage (IVH) in newborns may occur in premature babies and babies with low birth weight. More severe IVH may cause intellectual disability. [14]
- Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy (brain injury which occurs when the infant's brain does not receive enough oxygen during birth).

Postnatal causes of intellectual disability

- Various conditions which can impact young infants may cause intellectual disability. These include conditions such as
 - o hypoglycaemia
 - o kernicterus (a complication of severe jaundice in newborns)
 - infections such as encephalitis (swelling of the brain) and meningitis (swelling of the membranes protecting the brain and spinal cord)
 - hypoxia, such as can be caused by near-miss sudden infant death syndrome or near drowning experiences.
- Traumatic brain injury may cause intellectual disability. Note that if the injury occurs after the age of 18, any subsequent impacts would not be considered intellectual disability but instead cognitive disability or impairment.
- Exposure to toxins, such as lead or mercury poisoning.
- Experience of severe malnutrition or dehydration.

Section 2: Health status of people with intellectual disability

Setting the scene

It is recommended to play the <u>ABC 7:30 Report on preventable deaths</u> video from [0:00 to 4:36]. This video reports on the study finding that people with intellectual disability are twice as likely to experience preventable deaths.

Health status and common health conditions

Health status

Health outcomes are significantly worse for people with intellectual disability, compared to the general population. People with intellectual disability also experience higher levels of premature and potentially avoidable deaths. [15] Over the past few decades, there have been substantial advancements in how people with intellectual disability are integrated into everyday life and their communities. [16] This change is reflected in health systems – such as the shift from the historical separation of people with intellectual disability, to the expectation that all people may access mainstream health services. [16, 17] Despite these advances, the <u>Royal Commission into Violence</u>, <u>Abuse</u>, <u>Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability</u> found that "people with cognitive disability have been and continue to be subject to systemic neglect in the Australian health system". [18] Health and disability supports also remain mostly siloed with a lack of cross-sector capacity building. [19]

Common health conditions

People with intellectual disability can be at a higher risk of experiencing a range of physical and mental health conditions. Therefore, the health care of people with intellectual disability is relevant to all disciplines. For example, in one study based on records from general practice databases, people with intellectual disability, compared to people without intellectual disability, were: [20]

- 15 times more likely to experience epilepsy
- 14 times more likely to experience musculoskeletal impairment
- 3 to 4 times more likely to experience mental illness
- 3 times more likely to experience hearing impairment
- 3 times more likely to experience obesity
- 2 times more likely to experience dermatitis, eczema and acne

In addition, in studies which compared people with intellectual disability to the general population, people with intellectual disability were:

- Up to 21 times more likely to experience vision impairment [21]
- 8.5 times more likely to experience dental disease [22]
- 2 to 3 times more likely to experience heart failure [23]
- 2 to 3 times more likely to experience diabetes [24]

In addition to this, many syndromes are also associated with specific health problems. For example, people with Down syndrome have an increased risk of cataracts, vision and hearing impairments, thyroid disorders, seizures, coeliac disease, and blood disorders. [25]

Because people with intellectual disability are at an increased risk of such a range of conditions, it is vital that health, allied health and dental health professionals working in all disciplines are familiar with health conditions in this population and know how to engage with people with intellectual disability.

Determinants of health for people with intellectual disability

People with intellectual disability have a greater likelihood of having multiple health conditions and a reduced ability to manage their own health due to challenges monitoring their health and recognising that changes within their body, discomfort, or pain may signal the need for medical attention. There are many factors that can increase the risk of a person with intellectual disability experiencing physical and mental health problems. These include:

Greater social risks

- People with intellectual disability are at greater risk of social isolation due to having less opportunities to take part in social and employment activities.
- People with intellectual disability and their families are at greater risk of financial stress. [26]
- Some people with intellectual disability may have few family members and friends to act as their support network.
- Stigma around the abilities of people with intellectual disability can increase social isolation.
- People with intellectual disability may have reduced social and interpersonal skills.
- People with intellectual disability may have difficulties in expressing and managing grief and other negative emotions.

Psychological risks

- People with intellectual disability may have diminished resilience due to challenges utilising coping strategies (often due to executive functioning issues).
- They may have a lack of confidence in their own skills and abilities.
- Some people with intellectual disability have difficulties understanding and communicating their emotions.
- Some people with intellectual disability can feel overwhelmed or anxious due to difficulties in processing multiple stimuli (e.g., loud sounds, a lot of information).
- A higher likelihood of experiencing of trauma and negative life events.
 - Trauma-informed approach: Trauma informed care considers the impact of trauma on individuals and focusses on providing an environment in which recovery can occur, and re-traumatisation does not occur. A trauma-informed approach to health care is particularly important when working with someone with intellectual disability, as people with intellectual disability have a higher likelihood of having experienced trauma (including bullying, neglect, and abuse) and often have a lack of control over their own life.

Physical health risks

- Some causes of intellectual disability are associated with physiological differences that can increase the risk of illness.
- People with intellectual disability have a higher likelihood of experiencing co-existing physical and mental conditions, which can cause difficulties in carrying out daily tasks and affect self-esteem and motivation.

Lifestyle factors

People with intellectual disability have a higher likelihood of:

- being underweight or obese [27]
- doing less than the recommended amount of exercise compared to people without intellectual disability [28]
- sleep problems. [29]

Environmental factors

• A person with intellectual disability's wellbeing may be affected by their living conditions. For example, they may not have the freedom to choose where to live, or a person's accommodation may not provide the supports that they require.

Protective factors

Although there are elevated risk factors for people with intellectual disability, there are many protective factors that can attenuate these risks. Social and community group engagement, regular visits to a GP and any other relevant health professionals, as well as maintaining a healthy lifestyle, can support people with intellectual disability in minimising or avoiding many of these risks.

Section 3: Reasonable adjustments

What reasonable adjustments are

Reasonable adjustments are policies, processes, systems and communication that adjust for the needs of the person with intellectual disability. [7] Reasonable adjustments to practice are an essential part of ensuring that health care is accessible to people with intellectual disability and that they are included in decisions about their health care.

Reasonable adjustments that can be made to practice

Reasonable adjustments will vary based on the individual and the complexity and nature of the decision they need to make. To ensure preparedness for providing reasonable adjustments, it can be useful to review any background information known about the person prior to an appointment – such as their medical history and decision-making capacity.

Possible reasonable adjustments include: [30]

- Asking what communication method(s) the person commonly uses and prefers.
- Involving others, such as carers, family, or support workers (if the person agrees).
- Taking time to build rapport with the person.
- Ensuring that the person is told at each step of the assessment or examination about what will happen.
- Providing relevant information in a way that fosters supported decision-making, e.g., utilising accessible information (e.g., Easy Read) and using health records such as <u>My</u> <u>Health Matters</u>.
- Minimising wait times for the person, and if delays are unavoidable, ensuring clear communication to manage the person's expectations around how long they will have to wait.
- Allowing more time for appointments, including sufficient time for breaks during longer appointments.
- Consider physical access and sensory needs, and how best to ensure the person is comfortable, especially when encountering unfamiliar or changing environments, routines, procedures, and people. For example, arranging for a quiet room so the person does not have to wait for an appointment in a noisy waiting room.
- Engaging in behaviour support strategies to support the person to avoid or de-escalate distress. Speak with carers, family members and supporters to see if the person has a behaviour support plan.

Lecture 2: Communication

Section 1: Communication challenges faced by people with intellectual disability

Communication involves the sending and receiving of verbal (e.g., language, speech sounds) and non-verbal (e.g., expressions, pictures) messages. [31] This includes behaviour as a form of non-verbal communication. Good communication is an essential part of effective health care for all people, with or without intellectual disability. It is also an essential part of a person's capacity to consent, and their ability to make decisions, which are important to prioritise in intellectual disability health care. Some people with intellectual disability have difficulty in expressing themselves and understanding others due to communication challenges, especially those with severe or profound levels of intellectual disability. This can be a barrier to seeking and receiving appropriate health care, as it can make it difficult for a person to receive and express important information about their health, as well as cause issues in how they are able to engage in decision-making in a health care setting. Communication difficulties can lead to people with intellectual disability having poor health literacy, not utilising prevention measures to support their health, and contributes to the underdiagnosis of medical and psychiatric disorders.

Examples of communication difficulties people may experience include the following.

- Difficulties in communicating needs or communicating that they are in pain or feel unwell. This can include difficulties in being able to communicate where pain is and the type of pain they are experiencing (expressive communication).
- Difficulties in understanding what is being communicated by other people, such as instructions around how to take medication (receptive communication).
- Difficulties in communicating with a support person or health professional who is not trained in/aware of the person's preferred method of communication.
- Difficulties in completing health assessments which rely on verbal questions and answers.

Section 2: General principles for communication

Preparing for a consultation

It is important to prepare for a consultation with a person with intellectual disability. Health professionals should ask the person or their carer, family member, or support worker about the person's preferred communication methods, considering the following areas.

- The type of language a person uses (e.g., verbal or non-verbal; words, phrases or whole sentences).
- If the person uses any communication supports such as picture charts or apps.
- Any behaviours that the person uses to communicate.
- The types of information they understand and to what extent, e.g.:
 - Do they understand all or most of what people say to them?
 - Do they prefer Easy Read information, or the use of pictures or diagrams?

- Easy Read is a method of presenting information in a simplified way with shortsentences and no jargon, accompanied by pictures.
- How others, such as family, usually support the person when they need to make a decision.
- If the person tends towards:
 - o suggestibility: giving the reply that the person thinks is expected by the interviewer or
 - o acquiescence: giving an affirmative answer to every question.

Person-centred approach

A person-centred approach maximises the person's involvement in decision-making and seeks to understand the person and their situation and inform health care to be best tailored to the individual and their needs/preferences. Communication is an essential part of a person-centred approach.

- Communication considerations when using a person-centred approach include the following.
- The person's communication preferences.
- A combination of different communication approaches which are beneficial for, and preferred by, the person.
- Adequate communication training for the person's health care team.
- Involvement of others, including the person's carer, family member or support worker.
- Regular review of communication methods that are being used.
- Resources such as My Communication Passport.

Section 3: Adapting communication

Communication strategies

- Adapting verbal communication to support understanding e.g.:
 - breaking concepts down
 - o providing information at a slower pace than usual
 - o asking questions to check the person's understanding.
- Using time anchors instead of referring to chronological time. Anchoring to events that have occurred in a person's life can be useful when a person has difficulties understanding conventional time concepts. For example, instead of asking "how long has your head hurt?", asking "did your head hurt when you went to day group?".
- Be mindful of how questions are framed. Consider the impact of asking open or closed questions e.g., consider the possibility that the person might demonstrate suggestibility or acquiescence.
- Avoid moving between unrelated topics; instead try following topics the person wants to discuss.
- Avoid hurrying to complete procedures (such as an assessment) in one session; instead aim to finish with the person feeling that they were heard and that their needs were met.

Augmentative and Alternative Communication

Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) refers to a range of techniques used to assist in communication. These can be either unaided or aided. Below are a range of techniques that can be used.

Unaided AAC

- Eye contact
- Facial expression
- Gestures (e.g., pointing and other body movements)
- Signing
 - o Natural sign language
 - Unique signals (someone's personal signs)
 - Key word signing a system which combines signing and natural gesture. Full grammatical sentences are spoken while the key words are signed. Facial expression and body language support the message.
 - o Signed language
 - Finger spelling

Aided AAC

- Real objects (e.g., using a glass of water to show how medicines should be taken)
- Visual representations of words/concepts (e.g., photos, pictures, symbols)
- Written text i.e., presenting accessible information such as plain language versions or Easy Read format.
- Templates for appointment reminders, care plans, medicinal information etc.
- Communication apps.

Section 4: Behaviour as a form of communication

As behaviour has meaning, it is a form of communication. It is useful to view behaviour as communication even when the person has no deliberate intent to communicate or share information about their subjective state. Behaviour is often interpreted automatically when understanding a person, however sometimes behaviours can be interpreted based on our own personal or cultural perspectives, or misunderstanding the reason for the behaviour.

Communication through behaviour includes behaviours of concern. These are behaviours that negatively impact the quality of life or risk the safety of the person and those around them, and are likely to result in the person experiencing aversive responses, including being restricted or excluded. [2] For example, if a person is exhibiting absconding behaviours (running away), they might be afraid. If we interpret the person's needs correctly, we are better able to respond to them and thus resolve the behaviour (rather than supressing the behaviour).

Regardless of the behaviour, it is important not to assume or draw conclusions too quickly, and instead to consider what the person could possibly be communicating.

• What behaviour might be communicating

- Psychological symptoms
- Emotions
- Physical health problems
- o States such as pain, discomfort or hunger
- Something about the situation that the person is in e.g., the situation is unfamiliar and/or frightening.

Table 2. Interpreting	behavioural expressions
------------------------------	-------------------------

Verbal expression of state	Possible behavioural expression equivalent
"I'm pleased to meet you"	Offering a hand to shake; offering a hug or kissing the other person's cheek.
"I'm happy and excited"	Smiling; jumping up and down and clapping.
"I'm anxious"	Avoiding eye contact; fidgeting; retreating/leaving a situation.
"I feel nervous and I don't want to interact with you"	Avoidance behaviour e.g., crossing to the other side of the street, walking away or avoiding eye contact.
"My stomach hurts"	Slouching/other changes in posture; holding onto stomach; having a lower tolerance than normal for stimuli the person finds annoying/aversive; groaning.
"My head hurts"	Holding onto head; hitting head.
"I'm feeling angry"/ "I want this door to be closed"	Slamming a door.

- Behaviour is often ambiguous one behaviour can have several different possible meanings. Having more information about a person, including personal preferences, history, and details about their situation can make accurate interpretation easier.
- A person may communicate differently depending on the situation and how they are feeling for example, a person who usually uses speech to communicate may not do so when they are upset and may instead use body language to communicate.
- Atypical presentations and behavioural equivalents
 - Greater severity of intellectual disability increases the likelihood of atypical presentation of symptoms.
 - Behavioural equivalents are the expression of mental illness through behaviour rather than through verbal description.
- Diagnostic overshadowing when symptoms of illness are mistaken as part of the person's intellectual disability. Consider changes to behaviour or presentations of behaviours of concern which could indicate pain, or physical or mental health conditions e.g., dental abscess, constipation, anxiety, depression. [4]
- Examples of behaviour as communication e.g., <u>Video demonstrating behaviour of</u> <u>concern as communication</u>.

Section 5: Communication to reassure

Recognising that people with intellectual disability may have differing levels of understanding of health care situations and procedures is important. Communicate directly with the person in a way that seeks to include them in health care discussions and inform them of what is occurring during health appointments and procedures and their purpose, giving a sense of control and improved comfort. It is important to use a trauma-informed approach, as many people with intellectual disability may have had previous negative experiences within a health care setting. [32] Therefore, care should be taken to make sure that they feel comfortable and safe. This can include the following.

- Taking time to establish rapport and help the person relax.
- Explaining to the person what will happen during an appointment, or where they will go next for a test in hospital and narrating what is happening at each step.
- Asking the person if they have questions.
- Reassure the person that they are in a safe place (particularly if in a stressful situation, e.g., an emergency department at a hospital).

Each individual will have varying levels of stress around medical procedures and being in health care settings. It is important to always communicate to reassure and check in with how the person is feeling.

Consider location and timing factors that can support communication

Location

- Find out if there are certain environments that the person feels more comfortable in, and accommodate where possible.
- Where possible, choose a setting in which the person can be given full attention, with minimal interruptions or background noise/activity.
- Provide warning if changing locations.

Timing

- Find out if a particular time of day is better for the person.
- The person may need more time than other people to make a decision. Give the person plenty of time to think about information, ask questions, and process their own feelings and preferences (along with other ways to support decision-making, such as accessible information). They may need more than one appointment to make a decision. If there are several decisions to be made, consider making different appointments for each decision.

Involve others

- Find out if the person would like someone with them, such as a family member or carer. Support the person to connect with services if needed (e.g., an interpreter for a language other than English, or sign language, to facilitate communication if needed).
 - Consider that the family member or carer that is accompanying the person may also require communication support – e.g., they may not have high health literacy and therefore need certain health concepts explained, or may not speak English. Ensure everyone has the information they require in a way they can understand.

References

- The Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, Final report - Volume 6, Enabling autonomy and access. 2023. Available from: https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report-volume-6-enablingautonomy-and-access.
- Banks, R., Bush, A., Baker, P., Bradshaw, J., Carpenter, P., Deb, S., Joyce, T., Mansell, J., & Xenitidis, K., Challenging behaviour: a unified approach - Clinical and service guidelines for supporting people with learning disabilities who are at risk of receiving abusive or restrictive practices, Royal College of Psychiatrists, British Psychological Society and Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists, Editor. 2007.
- NSW Health, Consent to Medical and Healthcare Treatment Manual. 2020, NSW Ministry of Health. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/policies/manuals/Pages/consent-manual.aspx.
- 4. Mason, J., & Scior, K., 'Diagnostic overshadowing' amongst clinicians working with people with intellectual disabilities in the UK. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 2004. 17(2): p. 85-90. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-2322.2004.00184.x.
- 5. Inclusion Australia. What is intellectual disability?, 2024. Available from: https://www.inclusionaustralia.org.au/intellectual-disability/what-is-intellectual-disability/.
- 6. American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed. 2022.
- 7. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Reasonable adjustments. 2023. Available from https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/intellectual-disability-and-inclusive-health-care/reasonable-adjustments.
- 8. World Health Organisation, International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems. 11th ed. 2019.
- 9. Centre for Developmental Disability Health Victoria, Factsheet: Working with people with intellectual disabilities in healthcare settings. 2008. Available from https://cddh.monashhealth.org/index.php/resources/.
- 10. Australian Government, Disability in Australia: Intellectual Disability. 2008, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/disability/intellectual-disability-australia/summary.
- 11. Maulik, P.K., Mascarenhas, M.N., Mathers, C.D., Dua, T., & Saxena, S., Prevalence of intellectual disability: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 2011. 32(2): p. 419-36. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010.12.018.
- Wen, X., The definition and prevalence of intellectual disability in Australia. 1997, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/disability/definition-prevalence-intellectual-disabilityau/contents/summary.
- Hirvonen, M., Ojala, R., Korhonen, P., Haataja, P., Eriksson, K., Rantanen, K., Gissler, M., Luukkaala, T., Tammela, O., Intellectual disability in children aged less than seven years born moderately and late preterm compared with very preterm and term-born

children - a nationwide birth cohort study. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 2017. 61(11): p. 1034-1054. doi: 10.1111/jir.12394.

- 14. The Royal Women's Hospital Victoria, Intraventricular Haemorrhages IVH. 2019. Available from: https://www.thewomens.org.au/health-information/fact-sheets.
- Trollor, J., Srasuebkul, P., Xu, H., & Howlett, S., Cause of death and potentially avoidable deaths in Australian adults with intellectual disability using retrospective linked data. BMJ Open, 2017. 7(2). doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013489.
- 16. The Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, Research Report - Disability in Australia: Shadows, struggles and successes. A usable socio-cultural history of disability in Australia. 2021. Available from: https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/disability-australia-shadowsstruggles-and-successes.
- Trollor, J., Eagleson, C., Turner, B., Salomon, C., Cashin, A., Iacono, T., Goddard, L., & Lennox, N., Intellectual disability health content within nursing curriculum: An audit of what our future nurses are taught. Nurse Education Today, 2016. 69: p. 48-52. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2016.06.011.
- The Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, Report - Public Hearing 4 - Healthcare for people with cognitive disability.
 2020. Available from: https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/report-publichearing-4-health-care-people-cognitive-disability.
- Brooker, K.S., De Greef, R., Trollor, J. N., Franklin, C. S., & Weise, J., Intellectual disability healthcare in Australia: Progress, challenges, and future directions. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 2024. 21(1): p. e12497. doi: 10.1111/jppi.12497.
- van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk, H.M., Metsemakers, J.F., Haveman, M.J., & Crebolder, H.F., Health problems in people with intellectual disability in general practice: a comparative study. Family Practice, 2000. 17(5): p. 405-407. doi: 10.1093/fampra/17.5.405.
- Beange, H., McElduff, A., & Baker, W., Medical disorders of adults with mental retardation: a population study. American Journal of Mental Retardation, 1995. 99(6): p. 595-604.
- 22. Scott, C., March, L., & Stokes, M., A survey of oral health in a population of adults with developmental disabilities: Comparison with a national oral health survey of the general population. Australian Dental Journal, 1998. 42: p. 257 261. doi: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.1998.tb00174.x.
- 23. Wang, H., Lee, P.M.Y., Zhang, J., Svendsen, K., Li, F., & Li, J., Association of intellectual disability with overall and type-specific cardiovascular diseases: a population-based cohort study in Denmark. BMC Medicine, 2023. 6(41). doi: 10.1186/s12916-023-02747-4.
- Vancampfort, D., Schuch, F., Van Damme, T., Firth, J., Suetani, S., Stubbs, B., & Van Biesen, D., Prevalence of diabetes in people with intellectual disabilities and age- and gender-matched controls: A meta-analysis. 2022. 35(2): p. 301-311. doi: 10.1111/jar.12949.

- 25. National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. What conditions or disorders are commonly associated with Down Syndrome? 2023; Available from: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/down/conditioninfo/associated.
- 26. Saunders, B.S., Tilford, J.M., Fussell, J.J., Schulz, E.G., Casey, P.H., & Kuo, D.Z., The Financial and Employment Impact of Intellectual Disability on Families of Children with Autism. Families, Systems, & Health, 2015. 12(1): p. 36–45. doi: 10.1037/fsh0000102.
- Melville, C.A., Hamilton, S., Hankey, C.R., Miller, S., & Boyle, S., The prevalence and determinants of obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities. Obesity Reviews, 2007. 8(3): p. 223-230. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2006.00296.x.
- Temple, V.A., Frey, G.C., & Stanish, H.I., Physical Activity of Adults with Mental Retardation: Review and Research Needs. American Journal of Health Promotion, 2006. 21(1). doi: 10.1177/089011710602100103.
- Boyle, A., Melville, C.A., Morrison, J., Allan, L., Smiley, E., Espie, C.A., & Cooper, S.A., A cohort study of the prevalence of sleep problems in adults with intellectual disabilities. Journal of Sleep Research, 2010. 19(1): p. 42-53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2009.00788.x.
- 30. Council for Intellectual Disability, Reasonable Adjustments Checklist for Health Professionals. 2023. Available from: https://cid.org.au/resource/reasonable-adjustmentschecklist/.
- 31. Munodawafa, D., Communication: concepts, practice and challenges. Health Education Research, 2008. 23(3): p. 369–370. doi: 10.1093/her/cyn024.
- 32. Backer, C., Chapman, M., & Mitchell, D., Access to Secondary Healthcare for People with Intellectual Disabilities: A Review of the Literature. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 2009. 22(6): p. 514-525. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3148.2009.00505.x.

Health.gov.au

All information in this publication is correct as at May 2025

